
County Commission Courthouse
206 W. 1st Avenue

Hutchinson, KS 67501

  
1. Call to Order
  
2. Pledge of Allegiance to the American Flag and Prayer
  
3. Welcome and Announcements by Commission Chair
  
4. Public Comment on Items not on the Agenda

Please come forward to the podium, state your name and address and limit your remarks to not more than 5
minutes per item.

  
5. Determine Additions or Revisions to the Agenda
  
6. Consent Agenda
 6.A Vouchers (bills or payments owed by the county or related taxing units)
 6.B Purchase of five 2025 Ford Police Interceptors from Midwest Superstore for the

amount of $44,909 a piece for a total of $224,545.00 
 6.C Noxious Weed Annual Management Plan and Eradication Progress Report   
 6.D BOCC final approval of January minutes as drafts were approved on February 28th,

2024
 6.E Kansas Rehabilitation Tax Credits Bid Award
 6.F Agreement with Kirkham Michael for Engineering Services to perform the Biennial

Routine Bridge Inspections of the FAS & Off-System Bridges
  
7. Business Items
 7.A Umbrella Proposal - Travelers Insurance
 7.B Youth Services Annual Report
 7.C Reno County Health Department (RCHD)'s Aid-to-Local (ATL) Grant Application

for $872,103.12, and KDHE Healthy Families passthrough grant for $320,000
 7.D Planning Case #2023-10 - A text amendment to the Reno County Zoning

Regulations to create Article 25 - Solar Energy Systems Regulations and add Article
25 to the Table of Contents

 7.E Planning Case #2023-10 - A resolution approving a text amendment to the Table of
Contents and creating Article 25 of Zoning Regulations. This item is related to
Agenda Item 7.D

 7.F Resolution Continuing the Temporary Solar Moratorium on Solar Energy within the
Unincorporated Area of Reno County, and Terminating the Moratorium on the

REGULAR SESSION

  

A G E N D A
Reno County Courthouse Veterans Room

206 W. 1st Ave.
Hutchinson, KS 67501

Wednesday, March 13, 2024, 9:00 AM

Randy Parks
District 1

Ron Hirst
District 2

Daniel P. Friesen
District 3

John Whitesel
District 4

Don Bogner
District 5

 



Zoned Portion of Reno County
  
8. County Administrator Report
 8.A Monthly Department Reports
  
9. County Commission Report/Comments
  
10. Executive Session
 10.A Executive Session for 15 Minutes for client-attorney privileged legal matters
  
11. Adjournment

Randy Parks
District 1

Ron Hirst
District 2

Daniel P. Friesen
District 3

John Whitesel
District 4

Don Bogner
District 5

 



AGENDA ITEM
 AGENDA

ITEM #6.B

AGENDA DATE: March 13, 2024

PRESENTED BY: Kyle Berg

 

 

 
AGENDA TOPIC:
Purchase of five 2025 Ford Police Interceptors from Midwest Superstore for the amount of $44,909 a
piece for a total of $224,545.00 

SUMMARY & BACKGROUND OF TOPIC:
This purchase is part of the Sheriff's Department fleet rotation plan. Ford did not take any orders for
2024 police interceptors so we skipped ordering any interceptors in 2023. This has put us somewhat
behind in fleet rotation. With the Sheriff's 2024 capital request, it was approved to replace 4 patrol
SUVs and 1 patrol truck. The Automotive Department feels it is more of a priority to replace 5 of the
SUVs and not replace a truck in 2024.
 
An attachment is included with an equipment listing of which 5 of these vehicles will be replaced. The
vehicles to be replaced will be determined at a later date and will then be sold on Purple Wave Auction.
The vehicles to be replaced will all have well over 100,000 miles by the time the new units arrive. We
are staying with the same vehicle platform (Ford) as the equipment can be transferred from the old units
in all but one case. It is also beneficial to have all of the vehicles equipped the same way both for the
officers and also for maintenance. On the maintenance side it helps with our parts inventory and
diagnostic equipment required. 

ALL OPTIONS:
1. Approve the low quote from Midwest Superstore in the amount of $224,545.
2. Deny the purchase.

RECOMMENDATION / REQUEST:
Accept the low quote and purchase 5 Ford Police Interceptors from Midwest Superstore for $224,545.

POLICY / FISCAL IMPACT:
This purchase was approved as a capital request out of the Special Equipment Fund. (093-8200-106)



QOUTE REQUEST FOR FIVE 2025 FORD INTERCEPTOR UTILITIES

Dealer quotes sent out by email. Listed Midwest Ford, 2025 Ford Police Interceptor
by dealer name. Explorer Pursuit
Location of Dealer (City) Hutchinson, KS
Bid Due Date 2/20/2024
Cost per unit $44,909
Total Cost $224,545



Midway Motors, 2025 Ford Police Interceptor National Auto Fleet Group
Explorer Pursuit Pricing not available
Hutchinson, KS

2/20/2024
$45,040

$225,200









































Equipment Listing Innovative Maintenance Systems

Equipment Year, Make, Model Unit # Serial # Type Tag # Operator

\Reno County Automotive\Sheriff's Dept.  (7)

Mileage

SO #425 - 2020 Ford Interceptor SUV 110,815 SO #425 1FM5K8ABXLGA18947 Vehicle ,  2020 Ford Interceptor SUV

SO #427 2020 Ford Interceptor SUV 88,637 SO #427 1FM5K8AW2LGC15100 Vehicle ,  2020 Ford Interceptor SUV

SO #431 - 2020 Ford Interceptor SUV 87,480 SO #431 1FM5K8AB6LGA18945 Vehicle ,  2020 Ford Interceptor SUV

SO #432 - 2020 Ford Interceptor SUV 90,289 SO #432 1FM5K8AW4LGC15101 Vehicle ,  2020 Ford Interceptor SUV

SO #434 - 2018 Ford Interceptor SUV 151,521 SO #434 1FM5K8AR7JGB12441 Vehicle ,  2018 Ford Interceptor SUV

SO #439 - 2020 Ford Interceptor SUV 94,132 SO #439 1FM5K8AB8LGA18946 Vehicle ,  2020 Ford Interceptor SUV

SO #441 - 2020 Ford Interceptor SUV 82,543 SO #441 1FM5K8AW8LGC15103 Vehicle ,  2020 Ford Interceptor SUV

Total equipment listed = 7

2/20/2024 1:16:39 PM Page 1 of 1Printed by kyle.berg



AGENDA ITEM
 AGENDA

ITEM #6.C

AGENDA DATE: March 13, 2024

PRESENTED BY: Don Brittain, Public Works Director

 

 

 
AGENDA TOPIC:
Noxious Weed Annual Management Plan and Eradication Progress Report   

SUMMARY & BACKGROUND OF TOPIC:
The Annual Noxious Weed Management Plan and Eradication Progress Report are required by State
Statute to be submitted to the Kansas Department of Agriculture every year to confirm Reno County's
commitment to controlling noxious weeds, and to report the number of acres of noxious weeds treated.
 
The goals and priorities of the program for 2025 are tools used to provide services paid for by the Public
Works Noxious Weed Fund specifically levied for that purpose.
 
This process is repeated every year.

ALL OPTIONS:
Approve and sign both the plan and progress report.

RECOMMENDATION / REQUEST:
Approve and sign both the plan and progress report.

POLICY / FISCAL IMPACT:
N/A























AGENDA ITEM
 AGENDA

ITEM #6.D

AGENDA DATE: March 13, 2024

PRESENTED BY: Cindy Martin

 

 

 
AGENDA TOPIC:
BOCC final approval of January minutes as drafts were approved on February 28th, 2024

SUMMARY & BACKGROUND OF TOPIC:
Drafts were approved in the previous agenda meeting there are no more revisions.
 

ALL OPTIONS:
Approval

RECOMMENDATION / REQUEST:
Approval

POLICY / FISCAL IMPACT:
N/A



 1 
 

January 10, 2024 

Reno County Courthouse 

        Hutchinson, Kansas 

 

The Board of Reno County Commissioners held an agenda 

session with Chairman Daniel Friesen, Commissioner Ron Hirst, 

Commissioner Randy Parks, Commissioner Don Bogner, and 

Commissioner John Whitesel, County Counselor Patrick Hoffman, 

County Administrator Randy Partington, and Minutes Clerk Cindy 

Martin, present.   

 

The meeting began with the Pledge of Allegiance followed by 

a short sectarian prayer led by Pastor Wayne DeWindt, Eastwood 

Church of Christ.  

 

 Richele Calvert the newly appointed County Treasurer who 

would finish out retired Treasurer Brenda Kowitz’s term.  She 

introduced herself stating she had been with the Treasurer Office 

nine years and gave a brief summary of the Treasurer’s Office 

projects.  The Board welcomed her and gave their congratulations.  

 

There were no additions or revisions to the agenda.   

 

Mr. Hirst moved, seconded by Mr. Bogner, to approve 

Commissioners consent agenda consisting of items 6A and 6B which 

includes the: (6A) Accounts Payable Ledger for claims payable on 

January 5th, 2024, totaling $924,503.74; Accounts Payable Ledger 

for claims payable on January 12th, totaling $1,408,356.90; (6B) 

approved added, abated and escaped taxation change orders numbered 

2023-685, 686, and 694 for approval by the Board of Commissioners; 

as presented by staff. The motion for the consent agenda was 

approved by a roll call vote of 5-0. 

 

 7A. Michelle Updegrove with Register of Deeds presented her 

annual report on 2023 projects in her department.  She spoke 

about the hardcopy books being digitized and the Board 

questioned what would happen to the books after electronically 

stored.  Ms. Updegrove stated there were a few options 

available, one was storing them in Underground Vaults & Storage 

and for conditions and security reasons that was the better 

option.  

   

 

 

 

 



 2 
 

 7B. Mr. Partington explained the Administrative Services 

Agreement with Ranson Financial Group for Reno County Water 

District 101’s (Yoder).  Ranson Financial would oversee the 

paperwork with KDHE for the Water Revolving Loan Fund and the 

Small-Town Water and Sewer Infrastructure Assistance Grant, and 

if the county applied for USDA funds that would also be handled 

in the process.  He stated Ranson was on contract for similar 

administrative services on the HABIT/Yoder sewer project.  Reno 

County sent out RFQ’s and Ranson was the only response received.  

Mr. Bogner questioned if the amounts were capped. Mr. Partington 

stated of $15,000 for the KDHE paperwork, broken down by $10,000 

for rd-apply application and $5,000 to complete the USDA 

Environmental review with a not to exceed clause.  Mr. 

Partington said those were standard costs for these types of 

services. The repayment of any loan would be paid by the water 

district residents.  Mr. Bogner moved, seconded by Mr. Parks, to 

approve the Administrative Services Agreement and authorize the 

Chair to sign the agreement as presented by staff.   The motion 

was approved unanimously. 

 

 8A.  County Administrator Mr. Randy Partington inquired if 

there were questions on any of the monthly department reports, 

there were none.      

    

 8B.  Mr. Partington stated the financial reports were 

through December and did not include the year-end transfers.  

The final financial report will be toward the end of February or 

first of March. He received an email from the Chamber of 

Commerce with two tickets regarding the State of the City 

Address on Wednesday, January 31st between 8:00 a.m. and 9:00 

a.m. at the Sandhills Event Center.  He asked who would like the 

tickets, Mr. Whitesel and Mr. Parks would be attending. Next 

meeting was to be January 24th there would not be a quorum so he 

suggested moving the meeting to January 31st and to be after the 

Chamber meeting that a couple of commissioners would be 

attending and starting the agenda at 9:30 a.m., the Board 

agreed.  The last item was for the courthouse tax credits they 

sent out a request for proposals to bid on the $2.9 million.  He 

asked if the Board wanted to do the full amount or in increments 

of $100,000.  Mr. Hirst suggested looking at CPA firms using 

$50,000 instead of $100,000.  Mr. Partington asked about 

scheduling a study session to talk about the landfill methane 

wells with SCS.  He would ask Solid Waste Director Megan 

Davidson to give an explanation in February after one of the 

agenda meetings, the Board agreed.   

 



 3 
 

 Mr. Partington requested the Board think about goal setting 

for the 2024-2025 and future capital projects.  He would like to 

see if Wichita State University will come to facilitate leading 

a discussion on strategic plans.  The Board was concerned about 

cost and suggested doing this in-house to save money.  Mr. 

Bogner suggested getting the approximate cost and then deciding 

on a plan of action.  Mr. Hirst suggested finding a local 

facilitator with experience.  The Board agreed to prioritize 

feedback for Mr. Partington and come up with the top 3 to 5 

goals/ideas to focus on at a minimal cost.  

 

 9. Commissioner Comments: 

 

 Mr. Whitesel asked the public to drive safely with the 

weather conditions, stay well and have a good year. 

 

 Mr. Hirst wanted to thank Public Works for all their hard 

work with the weather conditions.  K-96 Corridor meeting was on 

Rural Entrepreneurship coming out of leadership center.  He 

would like to request from Legislator Seiwert K-96 between mile 

markers 108 to 114 for six miles as “Dead Eye Infantry 

Division”. 

  

 Mr. Parks and Mr. Friesen had no comments. 

 

 Mr. Bogner commented on the Conservation meeting he 

attended mentioning financial grants available for the fire east 

of town. 

 

 10A. Mr. Friesen requested nominations for Chair in 2024.  

Mr. Hirst nominated Mr. Parks; the vote was unanimous at 4-0 

with Mr. Parks abstaining. 

 

 10B. Mr. Friesen requested nominations for Vice-Chair in 

2024.  Mr. Parks nominated Mr. Bogner; the vote was unanimous at 

4-0 with Mr. Bogner abstaining after noting a small protest. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 4 
 

   At 9:40 a.m. the agenda meeting adjourned until Wednesday, 

January 31st, 2024, at 9:30 a.m. 

 

Approved: 

  

  ________________________________________ 

  Chair, Board of Reno County Commissioners 

 

(ATTEST) 

 

_________________________     _________ 

Reno County Clerk       Date 

cm 

 

 

 

January 24, 2024 

Reno County Courthouse 

        Hutchinson, Kansas 

 

The Board of Reno County Commissioners had no agenda 

session scheduled for today.   

 

 

 

 

January 31, 2024 

Reno County Courthouse 

        Hutchinson, Kansas 

 

The Board of Reno County Commissioners held an agenda 

session with Chairman Randy Parks, Commissioner Don Bogner, 

Commissioner Ron Hirst, and Commissioner John Whitesel, County 

Counselor Patrick Hoffman, County Administrator Randy 

Partington, and Minutes Clerk Cindy Martin, present. 

Commissioner Daniel Friesen was not available. 

 

The meeting began at 9:30 a.m. with the Pledge of Allegiance 

followed by a short sectarian prayer led by Pastor Matthew Stafford 

from First Congregational Church of Hutchinson.  

  



 5 
 

Mr. Parks explained the time difference for this agenda 

session was 9:30 a.m. instead of the printed 9:00 a.m. 

 

There were no additions or revisions to the agenda.   

 

 Mr. Hirst explained there was a correction on item 6B, minutes 

for December 13th, regarding Mr. Swarts’ out of county comment.  

The final minutes were reprinted prior to approval of the consent 

agenda item.   

 

Mr. Whitesel moved, seconded by Mr. Bogner, to approve the 

consent agenda consisting of items 6A through 6I which includes 

the: (6A) Accounts Payable Ledger for claims payable on January 

19th, 2024, totaling $1,392,015.23; Accounts Payable Ledger for 

claims payable on January 26th, totaling $482,571.58; Accounts 

Payable Ledger for claims payable on February 2nd, 2024, totaling 

$443,889.17; (6B) approve BOCC minutes for December 13th and 

December 27th, 2023; (6C) Set date and time for County Canvass 

following the March 19th, 2024, Presidential Preference Primary 

Election on Wednesday, March 27th, 2024 at 8:00 a.m. at the Reno 

County Annex Conference Room; (6D) approve the Professional 

Development of Staff Proposal and memorandum of understanding 

(MOU) working with the KU Public Management Center to help develop 

the county’s core values, mission statement, and 1.5 to 2 day HPO 

sessions for an amount not to exceed $170,300 and have county 

administrator sign MOU.  Funds for the training of employees will 

come out of budgeted areas in the general fund from 2024 and 

possibly 2025 budgets.  The county will be billed per session used; 

(6E) approval of Sheriff’s Shooting Range Agreement with Hutton 

Construction on details for Phase I of the Commission approved 

shooting range at the landfill.  In July 2022, the commission 

authorized phase 1 with an amount not to exceed $600,000. Hutton 

Construction proposed an agreement to formally begin Phase I with 

a guaranteed maximum price of $508,760 and authorize the county 

administrator to sign the construction management agreement. The 

costs for this phase of the range project will come out of Fund 

099 (CIP Reserve Fund) with no impact on the county’s operating 

budget; (6F) approval for Public Works Department request to 

purchase one (1) 2025 Freightliner 108SD tandem axle truck chassis 

with a 16-foot dump body from Truck Center Companies, Wichita, 

Kansas, for a total price of $207,891.00 budgeted for 2024 per the 

Capital Improvement Plan. Public Works Fund 007 Operational 

Equipment; (6G) approval to purchase a 2024 Ford F350 for 

Reno/Kingman Joint Fire District #1 from Midway Motors for 

$50,875.00. Replacing a 2012 Freightliner M2106V dump truck which 

was 11 years 11 months with 249,392 miles as of 1/22/24 purchased 

in 2012.   



 6 
 

This is budgeted for 2024 per the Capital Improvement Plan; 

(6H) approval to purchase a truck chassis for Reno County Fire 

District #6 with a not to exceed cost of $45,000.  This purchase 

had been planned for following the district’s CIP.  The funds 

received from the sale of the older truck will be placed in the 

district’s special equipment fund; (6I) a resolution #2024-01; A 

RESOLUTION PURSUANT TO K.S.A. 79-2801 DIRECTING THE FILING OF A 

REAL ESTATE TAX FORECLOSURE ACTION as presented by staff. The 

motion for the consent agenda was approved by a roll call vote of 

4-0. 

 

 7A. Patrol Captain Steve Lutz explained about a Law 

Enforcement Memorial on the southeast corner of the County 

Courthouse grounds.  It would be a 25-foot circle made with 

concrete or like material with sidewalks, one toward 1st Avenue 

the other toward Adams Street. A stone or granite type of 

memorial would be placed to the east of the courthouse with a 

flagpole in the middle of the circle to memorialize the Law 

Enforcement Officers/Deputies who have lost their lives in the 

line of duty. He stated Maintenance Director Harlen Depew 

contacted the Historical Society and received approval of the 

memorial. FOP Lodge #18 had seed money and the balance of the 

funds would be privately donated. Reno County would continue to 

own the grounds and memorial.  Mr. Whitesel moved, seconded by 

Mr. Hirst, to approve the construction of a memorial as 

presented by staff.  The motion was approved by a roll call vote 

of 4-0.   

   

 7B. Maintenance Director Harlen Depew outlined the 

courthouse furniture proposal, courthouse interior improvement 

project update, and change order request.  Mr. Depew stated the 

furniture for the 1st and 2nd floors was completed. The 5th floor 

furniture would cost $134,502.55 and shelving for an additional 

not to exceed $12,000 to be used by the District Attorney’s 

office and District Courts. Mr. Partington covered the use of 

funds for this purchase. 

 

 Mr. Whitesel questioned whether the District Court staff 

had to use the back staircase for storage boxes.  District 

Attorney Tom Stanton stated he was not aware of them having to 

use the back stairway, and said it was not an issue to use the 

front door. Mr. Hirst moved, seconded by Mr. Bogner, to approve 

the purchase of courthouse furniture from HON/Office Plus of 

Kansas, Hutchinson for $134,502.55 and authorize additional 

shelving from a different vendor for $12,000 as presented.  The 

motion was approved by a roll call vote of 4-0.   

       



 7 
 

 Mr. Depew then discussed the remodel project update with 

Ward Davis Builders.  He stated the first floor was complete 

except for the carpet and the second and third floors were 

completed.  The fourth floor was almost ready, and the fifth 

floor would be finalized then carpet would be installed.  

Timeline: was to carpet east side in newly remodeled space with 

completion end of February.  Then move into the west side and 

carpet and end up with the first floor in the middle of April or 

middle of May.  He said WD Construction would be going over the 

completion date by 62 days. 

 

 Mr. Depew then spoke about the change order from Ward Davis 

Builders stating a detailed breakdown was in the agenda packet. 

They decided to do one change order instead of many throughout 

the project with a cost of $24,756.00 including the time 

extension of 62 extra days making it mostly complete by mid-

April instead of the original date in March and final completion 

by mid-May. Documents were not included today; however, they 

would be available for the next agenda session and noted that 

today was just a review.   

                                                                      

 7C.  Aging/RCAT Director Barbara Lilyhorn gave her annual 

report.  She spoke about bus orders and how the cost has doubled 

from $78,000 for a base model to $130,000 and after equipment 

was added, the cost is $150,123.00 for one unit.  She also 

mentioned the KDOT Repair Fund was left over money from the sale 

of buses which helped with 100 percent cost for an engine repair 

and 30 percent toward the transmission repair.    

 

 8A.  County Administrator Mr. Randy Partington inquired if 

there were any questions on any of the monthly department 

reports, there were none.  He reminded the Board after the 

February 28th meeting there was a study session with Solid Waste 

Director Megan Davidson and SCS regarding methane options.  He 

spoke about iParametrics being in town and auditing ARPA funds 

for sub recipients. He and Financial Specialist Leslie Roederer 

will be meeting with the auditors to make sure all is on track. 

He commented that in the early part of 2024 they would receive 

reports from outside agencies. He said they filed the quarterly 

reports for December 2023.  We need agreements for HCC and the 

hospital on projects that will be completed this year and still 

need commission approved ARPA agreements to spend the money. 

 

 

 

 



 8 
 

 County Counselor Patrick Hoffman spoke about the sanitation 

code project.  KDOT had reviewed the code and made no changes 

and noted that it was published last Friday.  He stated the 

process was on February 28th, 2024. A public hearing would be 

held for comments and then the Board could choose to adopt the 

new codes. The new codes are on the county website, and he said 

in February the project would be complete.   

 

 

 9. Commissioner Comments: 

  

 

 Mr. Hirst attended the KAC local government day in Topeka 

and came away with the thought that the flat tax won’t be 

overridden after speaking with state representatives.  Dr. Bill 

Clifford, representative from Finney County answered questions 

on bills and spoke about The Presidential Preference Primary. He 

attended a SCKEED meeting last week saying they are doing well 

and stable financially.  There is one house for sale and another 

house would be finished in 6 to 8 weeks.  He spoke about 504 

loans completed in the first quarter; these are the larger loans 

which can go over 5 million dollars. He attended the Southwest 

Bricktown meeting which discussed planning and what needs to be 

done in that area. He went to the K-96 Corridor meeting with Mr. 

Partington and attended the Extension Council meeting to get 

more information on what is coming up. 

 

 Mr. Bogner spoke about the Stafford County and Kansas 

Natural Resources Coalition regarding the water issues with 

Quivira.   Reno County may have a small part. They quoted 

several laws pointed out to help them with a mutual 

understanding with state and federal agencies. Reno County does 

the meetings and properly shows our intentions, they have to 

consider the county’s consideration to benefit Reno County.  The 

best thing Reno County did was the 30X30 resolution for the 

citizens of Reno County to protect them.  Future planning, with 

Mr. Hoffman’s help we would have more of a say in what’s going 

on in our county, giving us a better say and Mr. Hoffman would 

have a better understanding of these things.  The organization 

membership fee was $5,000 annually and we could discuss it 

later.  

  

 Mr. Hoffman stated it was put on by the Kansas Natural 

Resource Coalition, that is the organization Mr. Bogner was 

speaking about that provided information.  It was held in 

Stafford because the groundwater district conflicted with the 

federal agency of Fish & Wildlife.   



 9 
 

 The discussion was on how county government could interact 

with federal agencies.  He was still processing information and 

spoke about the 30X30 resolution and what it said. The broader 

issue is how local government can collaborate with federal 

agencies on issues. 

 

 Mr. Bogner mentioned not only the federal government, but 

the State of Kansas got on board later with several other 

states.  He said it also includes departments within the state 

of Kansas. There was a brief discussion on waterways. 

  

 Mr. Whitesel wanted to thank the employees who took care of 

the roads when it was so snowy and cold. Public Works and the 

City of Hutchinson crews did an excellent job.  He and Mr. 

Partington attended the State of the City Address, and the main 

emphasis of the presentation was cooperation between counties 

and cities working together on projects. He thanked the City of 

Hutchinson for doing a lot of positive things that will benefit 

Reno County citizens.  The Kansas State GOP meeting was this 

past week and very well represented. Out of the 156 elected 

delegates we have eleven delegates from the Reno County area who 

push for smaller government, less taxes, and less regulations.  

We are working not only in the county with state 

representatives, but the Republican Party at the state level is 

working to keep the government in its place. 

 

 Mr. Parks had no comments. 

 

At 10:25 a.m. the meeting recessed for five minutes. 

 

The meeting reconvened with all Commissioners, County 

Administrator Randy Partington, County Counselor Patrick Hoffman, 

and Minutes Clerk Cindy Martin, present. 

 

 10A. At 10:30 a.m. Mr. Parks moved that the Board recess 

into executive session for 30 minutes until 11:00 a.m. with 

County Counselor Patrick Hoffman, County Administrator Randy 

Partington, Reno County EMS Chief Dave Johnston, and Maintenance 

Director Harlen Depew for the subject of preliminary discussions 

relating to the acquisition of real property and with the 

justification of the executive session being preliminary 

discussions relating to the acquisition of real property, 

seconded by Mr. Whitesel.  The motion was approved by a roll 

call vote of 4-0. 

  

  



 10 
 

  At 11:00 a.m. the agenda meeting returned to regular session 

and adjourned until Wednesday, February 14th, 2024, at 9:00 a.m. 

 

Approved: 

  

  ________________________________________ 

  Chair, Board of Reno County Commissioners 

 

(ATTEST) 

 

_________________________     _________ 

Reno County Clerk       Date 

cm 

 

 

 



AGENDA ITEM
 AGENDA

ITEM #6.E

AGENDA DATE: March 13, 2024

PRESENTED BY: Randy Partington, County Administrator

 

 

 
AGENDA TOPIC:
Kansas Rehabilitation Tax Credits Bid Award

SUMMARY & BACKGROUND OF TOPIC:

Reno County went out to bid to sale our state tax credits at the beginning of the year, as discussed at a
commission meeting on January 10th.  The Request for Proposals (RFP) is attached and has tax credits
available in the amount of $888,709.  The RFP was sent to everyone on a list by the Kansas State
Historical Society that is updated with all interested parties.  We also had social media posts to get the
information out locally for banks that might be interested. 

Three of the bids were received by banks or organizations in the State of Kansas, that included First
National Bank of Louisburg, Silver Lake Bank, and AzimuthZero, LLC.  Being located in the State of
Kansas is not required and the best/highest bid received was from Clocktower Tax Credits out of New
York.  Staff is excited to receive a bid for the full amount instead of breaking this into multiple
transfers.

The past two tax credits sold by Reno County were both around 91% of the total value and we were
hoping to get near 90% for this round of tax credits.  Below is a chart of the bids received for the tax
credits.  The information will be included in the next commission agenda packet with a
recommendation to award the tax credits to the highest bidder.  There is a $300 transfer fee that will be
due to the Kansas State Historical Society. 

 
Company Amount of Tax Credits Amount ($) Amount (%)
First National Bank of Louisburg $50,000.00 $43,500.00 87.00%
Silver Lake Bank (Topeka) $100,000.00 $85,000.00 85.00%
Commerce Bank $888,709.00 $808,725.19 91.00%
Fallbrook Tax Credits $888,709.00 $827,832.43 93.15%
AzimuthZero, LLC $888,709.00 $828,738.03 93.25%
Clocktower Tax Credits $888,709.00 $831,832.00 93.60%
 

ALL OPTIONS:
1. Approve the sale of tax credits to the high bidder in the amount of $831,832 (93.6% of credits)



and authorize the chair to sign the memorandum of understanding with Clocktower Tax Credits.
2. Decline all bids.

RECOMMENDATION / REQUEST:
Approve the sale of tax credits to the high bidder in the amount of $831,832 (93.6% of credits) and
authorize the chair to sign the memorandum of understanding with Clocktower Tax Credits.



 

        Boston   •   NYC   •   Naples   •   Charlotte 
             Tel: 978.823.0200  •  Fax: 978.823.0328  •  www.ClocktowerTC.com 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
February 16, 2024 
 
Mr. Randy Partington, County Administrator 
Reno County Board of County Commissioners 
206 West First Avenue 
Hutchinson, KS  67501 
Email:  Bids@RenoGov.org 
 
RE: Letter of Commitment to Purchase Kansas Historic Rehabilitation Tax Credits 
 Reno County Courthouse – Hutchinson, KS 
 
Dear Mr. Partington, 
 
Thank you for sharing the information about your historic rehabilitation in Hutchinson, KS.  The 
project entails the historic rehabilitation of the Reno County Courthouse located at 206 West 
First Avenue.  The project was placed into service in May 2023, and the Kansas Historic 
Rehabilitation Tax Credits (KS HTCs) have been generated and are ready for transfer. 
 
Clocktower Tax Credits is committed to facilitating the sale of your award of KS HTCs to a 
Kansas taxpayer.  The purchase price of such sale would be based on a total price-per-credit 
rate of $0.936 per dollar of available tax credit.  Based on the state KS HTC issuance of 
$888,709, the purchase price would equal $831,832 for these credits.  The sale proceeds will be 
paid upon issuance and transfer of the KS HTC certificate.  These proceeds are net of any fee 
due to Clocktower by the Kansas taxpayer that we identify.  Such purchase would be subject to 
all appropriate due diligence on the project, the tax credits, and the transfer, and the execution 
of a purchase agreement documenting all the terms of the transfer.   
 
Please know that we have completed over fifty state tax credit transactions, and have the 
experience and capacity to complete the sale for the Reno County Courthouse project. 
 
Respectfully,  
 
 
 
 
 
Jeff Jacobson, President 



 

 
 
March 6, 2024 
 
Randy Partington 
County Administrator 
Reno County Board of County Commissioners 
206 W. First Avenue 
Hutchinson, Kansas 67501 
 
Re:     Kansas Historic Rehabilitation Tax Credits 
 
Dear Mr. Partington: 
 
This agreement (“Agreement”) shall serve as our mutual agreement and understanding with the 
purchaser, Clocktower Tax Credits, LLC or its assigns (“Clocktower” or “Purchaser”), purchaser 
of certain Kansas Historic Rehabilitation Tax Credits related to the project at 206 W. 1st Street, 
Hutchinson, Kansas. 
 
Project Information: Reno County Courthouse 

206 W. 1st Street 
Hutchinson, Kansas 67501 
Project Number 1815 

 
Tax Credits: Kansas Historic Rehabilitation Tax Credits in the amount of Eight 

Hundred Eighty-Eight Thousand Seven Hundred Nine Dollars 
($888,709) (the “Tax Credits”) 

 
Seller: Reno County Board of County Commissioners 
 
Consideration:  Purchaser shall deliver to Seller $831,832.00 within 10 days of the 

transfer of the Tax Credits to Purchaser. 
 
Governing Law; Disputes: This Agreement will be governed by and interpreted in accordance 

with the laws of the State of Kansas and any dispute, litigation, 
arbitration, or other proceeding shall take place in Reno County, 
State of Kansas. In any dispute, litigation, or arbitration between 
the parties arising out of or related to this Agreement or the breach 
thereof, the prevailing party shall be entitled to have its reasonable 
and actual attorneys' fees, reasonable expenses, related litigation 
costs and costs of suit (if any) paid by the non-prevailing party. 

 
Miscellaneous: Seller agrees to provide Clocktower all non-financial assistance 

necessary to complete the transfer and use of the tax credits by 
Clocktower or its assigns. 

 
Seller and Clocktower each hereby agree to indemnify and hold 
harmless the other party, including that party’s affiliates, directors, 



 

officers and shareholders against any and all damage, loss, cost or 
liability arising out of or resulting from any of the indemnifying 
party’s misrepresentations, acts or omissions or those of its 
employees, agents, directors, officers, and representatives in 
connection with the undertakings or services performed under this 
Agreement. 
 

Each party represents and warrants that in performing its 
obligations under this Agreement, it shall comply with all 
applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations, and that it 
is free of any contractual obligations that would prevent it from 
entering into this Agreement. 

 
This Agreement is the entire agreement of the parties with respect 
to the subject matter hereof, supersedes all prior agreements and 
understandings, oral or written, relating to the subject matter 
hereof, and may not be amended, supplemented, or modified 
except by written instrument executed by all parties hereto. 

 
This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, each of 
which shall be deemed an original for all purposes and all of which 
when taken together shall constitute a single counterpart 
instrument. This Agreement may be executed by electronically, 
and each such electronic signature shall have the efficacy of a 
signed original and may be used in lieu of the original for any 
purpose. The parties each represent that the person executing this 
agreement on behalf of such party has been and is duly authorized 
to execute this Agreement. 

 
 
 
 

[Signature Page Follows]



 

Please confirm that the foregoing correctly sets forth our agreement by signing and returning to 
us a copy of this Agreement. 

 
Sincerely, 

 
Agreed To And Accepted As Of The 
Date First Written Above 

 
Clocktower Tax Credits, LLC                           Reno County Board of 

County Commissioners 
 
 

By: _______________________   By: _______________________ 
Name: Jeff Jacobson     Name: 
Its:  President     Its:  



AGENDA ITEM
 AGENDA

ITEM #6.F

AGENDA DATE: March 13, 2024

PRESENTED BY: Don Brittain, Director of Public Works

 

 

 
AGENDA TOPIC:
Agreement with Kirkham Michael for Engineering Services to perform the Biennial Routine Bridge
Inspections of the FAS & Off-System Bridges

SUMMARY & BACKGROUND OF TOPIC:
This agreement is for the Biennial Bridge Inspections as required by the Kansas Department of
Transportation and Federal Highway Administration. The agreement is for 403 bridges at a cost of
$86.00 per bridge totaling $34,658.00. It is my recommendation for The Board of County
Commissioners to award and sign this Agreement with Kirkham Michael to perform the 2024 Biennial
Bridge Inspections. Funds for this agreement will come from the 006 Special Bridge Fund.

ALL OPTIONS:
1. Approval and signature of agreement
2. Return to staff for revision

RECOMMENDATION / REQUEST:
Approval and Signature of Agreement.

POLICY / FISCAL IMPACT:
Budgeted in the Fund 006 Special Bridge.







AGENDA ITEM
 AGENDA

ITEM #7.A

AGENDA DATE: March 13, 2024

PRESENTED BY: Bob Fee, President Fee Insurance

 

 

 
AGENDA TOPIC:
Umbrella Proposal - Travelers Insurance

SUMMARY & BACKGROUND OF TOPIC:

Commissioner Whitesel requested Bob Fee to provide a quote for additional umbrella insurance
coverage for the county at a meeting in December.  Attached is the quote and below is a high-level
summary.

The proposal from Fee Insurance is a $3 million umbrella coverage that is the maximum excess amount
we could receive without getting coverage through an additional insurance carrier.  The $3 million
coverage would have a premium cost of $49,213.  If the commission wanted excess coverage but not
the full $3 million, we could get $1 million in coverage for $15,000 - $17,000.  See attachment for more
details of the proposal.

ALL OPTIONS:
1. Approve the proposal for the high limit umbrella coverage of $3 million with a $49,213 premium.
2. Approve additional umbrella coverage of $1 million with a premium between $15,000 - $17,000.
3. Decline additional coverage.
4. Table to a future meeting.

RECOMMENDATION / REQUEST:
Discussion item.

POLICY / FISCAL IMPACT:
Additional coverage would have a premium that would be covered by the General Fund's insurance line
item.  



 

   

 
 

 
 

 
        Address  Phone & Fax  Website & Social 
      
2920 N. Plum St 
Hutchinson, KS  67502 

 P:  (620) 662-2381 
F:  (620) 662-5415 

 www.feeinsurance.com 

   
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

INSURANCE PROPOSAL 
RENO COUNTY 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Presented: February 22, 2024 
Presented by: Robert Fee 



NAMED INSUREDS & LOCATIONS 

Prepared for: Reno County  Page 2 of 4 
 

Named Insureds & Locations 

NAMED INSUREDS 
 
Reno County 
 
  

 

MAILING ADDRESS 
206 W. 1st Avenue 
Hutchinson, KS 67501  

 

LOCATION SCHEDULE 

LOC BLDG ADDRESS DESCRIPTION 

1 1 206 W. 1st Avenue, Hutchinson, KS  67501  



UMBRELLA 

Prepared for: Reno County  Page 3 of 4 
 

Umbrella 

     
COMPANY POLICY NUMBER POLICY TERM 

Travelers Casualty Insurance Co of 
America ZUP-81N77220 1/1/2024 to 1/1/2025 

   
 

COVERAGES 

DESCRIPTION LIMIT 

General Aggregate $3,000,000 

Products / Completed Operations $3,000,000 

Each Occurrence $3,000,000 

Self-Insured Retention (SIR) $10,000 
 

UNDERLYING COVERAGES 

DESCRIPTION CARRIER / POLICY # POLICY 
PERIOD LIMIT 

Automobile Liability 
Combined Single Limit  

The Travelers Indemnity 
Company / H-810-
3036P189-IND-23 

1/1/24 to 
1/1/25 

 
$1,000,000 

General Liability 
Each Occurrence  
General Aggregate 
Product & Completed Ops Agg  
Personal & Advertising Injury 
Damage to Rented Premises 

The Travelers Indemnity 
Company / ZLP-

14T82241-24-PB 

1/1/24 to 
1/1/25 

 
$1,000,000 
$2,000,000 
$2,000,000 
$1,000,000 
$500,000 

General Liability 
Employee Benefit Liability - Each Employee/Agg 

The Travelers Indemnity 
Company / ZLP-

14T82241-24-PB 

1/1/24 to 
1/1/25 

 
$1,000,000/$3,000,000 

General Liability 
Law Enforcement Liability  

           - Each Wrongful Act/Aggregate 

The Travelers Indemnity 
Company / ZLP-

14T82241-24-PB 

1/1/24 to 
1/1/25 

 
$2,000,000/$2,000,000 

General Liability 
     Public Entity Management Liability 
           - Each Wrongful Act/Aggregate 

The Travelers Indemnity 
Company / ZLP-

14T82241-24-PB 

1/1/24 to 
1/1/25 $1,000,000/$2,000,000 

General Liability 
     Public Entiity Employee-Related Practices 

Liability 
           - Each Wrongful Employment Practice 
             Offense/Aggregate            

The Travelers Indemnity 
Company / ZLP-

14T82241-24-PB 

1/1/24 to 
1/1/25 $1,000,000/$2,000,000 

 

ADDITIONAL COVERAGES 

DESCRIPTION LIMIT DEDUCTIBLE 

Crisis Management Service Expenses $50,000  

 



DISCLAIMERS AND DISCLOSURES 

Prepared for: Reno County  Page 4 of 4 
 

Quote Summary 

LINE(S) OF BUSINESS QUOTE 

Umbrella    $    49,213.00 

   

Umbrella Option – $1M Limit $    15,000.00 - $17,000 
Premiums may be subject to additional state taxes, surcharges, assessments, surplus lines taxes and/or fees other than those 
shown above. 

PAYMENT OPTIONS 

POLICY TYPE BILLING TYPE PAYMENT PLAN* 
Umbrella TBD TBD 

*Installment charges may apply 
 
 



jubilee.critchfield
Typewritten text
AGENDAITEM 7.B 































AGENDA ITEM
 AGENDA

ITEM #7.C

AGENDA DATE: March 13, 2024

PRESENTED BY: Karla Nichols, Director of Public Health; Karen Hammersmith,
Assistant Director of Clinical Services; Megan Gottschalk, Assistant
Director of Populations Services;

 

 

 
AGENDA TOPIC:
Reno County Health Department (RCHD)'s Aid-to-Local (ATL) Grant Application for $872,103.12,
and KDHE Healthy Families passthrough grant for $320,000

SUMMARY & BACKGROUND OF TOPIC:

On an annual basis, the RCHD must have the Board of County Commissioners sign their Aid-to- Local
Grant Application Signature page, for Grant Period: July 1, 2024 - June 30, 2025 for $872,103.12.  This
signature page is then submitted to the Kansas Department of Health and Environment (KDHE) for
review and approval.  This listing (attached) includes:

-PHEP - Public Health Emergency Preparedness - to provide funding and technical assistance to build
public health preparedness and response capabilities.

-IAP - Immunization Action Plan - to provide access to immunizations for those on state insurance, are
underinsured, or have no insurance.

-State Formula - to insure adequate public health services to all inhabitants of the State of Kansas, the
State shall assist in the financing of the operation of local health department.

-Family Planning - The Kansas Title X Family Planning Program provides individuals the access to
additional health services that lead to the overall improvement in the health of individuals, prioritizing
services to low-income and high-risk individuals.

-MCH - Maternal and Child Health Services - The Title V Maternal and Child Health program serves to
improve the health and well-being of the nation's mothers, infants, children and youth, including those
with special health care needs, and their families.

-Childcare Licensing Program - to safeguard children from harm in out-of-home childcare by:
Establishing and enforcing requirements for the operation of childcare facilities; Increasing the state-
wide availability of regulated facilities that meet or exceed standards; Reducing predictable health and
safety risks to children in childcare; Providing consumer protection for children and families; Providing



awareness of the need for quality childcare; and Conducting timely and accurate inspections.

-CDRR - Chronic Disease Risk Reduction - to provide funding and technical assistance to communities
to address chronic disease risk reduction through evidence-based strategies and best practices that
impact commercial tobacco use, physical activity, nutrition, and chronic disease self-management.

The Kansas Department of Health and Environment (KDHE) Healthy Families Outreach, Prevention,
and Early Intervention Program (OPEI) grant is a pass-through grant to the Kansas Children Service
League for new, low-income parents and children with emphasis on adolescent and pregnant teen
parents of at-risk infants in Reno County.

ALL OPTIONS:
1. Approval of the ATL Grant Application; thereby authorizing the Commission Chair to sign the

signature page
2. Deny the application

 
1. Approval of the KDHE Healthy Families Grant Application; thereby authorizing the Commission

Chair to sign the letter and Agreement page
2. Deny the application

RECOMMENDATION / REQUEST:
Approve the requested grant applications and authorize the chair to sign the required documents.

POLICY / FISCAL IMPACT:
The Aid-to-Local Grant funds are foundational grant funds allow the Reno County Health Department
to provide vital services to Reno County for the overall improvement in the health of individuals,
prioritizing services to low-income and at-risk individuals.
 
The KDHE Healthy Families Grant allow a partner organization to provide vital services to low-income
parents and children.









AGENDA ITEM
 AGENDA

ITEM #7.D

AGENDA DATE: March 13, 2024

PRESENTED BY: Don Brittain, Director of Public Works and Mark Vonachen, County
Planner II

 

 

 
AGENDA TOPIC:
Planning Case #2023-10 - A text amendment to the Reno County Zoning Regulations to create Article
25 - Solar Energy Systems Regulations and add Article 25 to the Table of Contents

SUMMARY & BACKGROUND OF TOPIC:
Last year the County Commissioners directed Planning Staff and the Planning Commission to develop
regulations for commercial solar energy projects.  The County Commissioners would also consider
adopting regulations for residential ground-mounted solar projects.  To provide Staff and the Planning
Commission time to accomplish this task, a moratorium was enacted stopping development of solar
projects until January 1, 2024.
 
A public hearing on commercial solar energy regulations was held by the Planning Commission on
November 9, 2023, for the purpose of receiving public comments regarding the draft regulations.  At the
close of the public hearing on November 9, 2023, the Planning Commission continued the public
meeting to November 16, 2023, and again to December 21, 2023, to review and discuss all of the public
comments and written documents received at the public hearing.  At those meetings, the Planning
Commission made changes to the documents based on the public hearing comments.
 
On December 27, 2023, the County Commissioners then directed the Planning Staff and the Planning
Commission to cease further discussion and development of Large-Scale Commercial Solar Energy
Project regulations and focus instead on Limited-Scale Commercial Solar Energy Project regulations. 
To accomplish this new directive, the moratorium was extended till July 1, 2024.
 
To comply with this directive, the Planning Commission met on January 18, 2024, February 5, 2024,
and February 15, 2024, to revise the document for Limited-Scale Commercial Solar Energy Projects. 
The residential ground-mounted solar energy project regulations were removed from this document and
will be placed under Article 15 - Permitted Accessory Uses.  Re-location under this Article will require
a new public hearing to gather public input on the draft.
 
On February 15, 2024, the Planning Commission voted 7-0 to recommend to the County
Commissioners, adoption of the Limited-Scale Commercial Solar Energy regulations and the Table of
Contents as presented in this draft.
 



Some key points of the draft regulations are as follows:
 

Regulations only apply to the zoned area of the County.
Limited scale is defined as a 10-acre or less parcel/lease area and generating two megawatts of
AC power or less.
Stormwater management plan is required.
List of all local, state, and Federal agencies required to review or approve the project.
No project can be within two miles of another project.
Solar panels are to be setback 100 feet from the road right of way and all non-participating
property lines in effect at the time of the application.
500 feet setback from a non-participating landowner's principal building.
25 feet from a fence associated with providing security.
Maximum height of the panel is 15 feet.
Facility enclosed by a perimeter fence.
No lights unless approved by the conditional use permit.
Any battery storage must be in a building and not located within 500 of a non-participating
property owner's principal building.
Noise can't exceed 60 decibels measured at the outer wall of a non-participating property owner's
principal building.
No rock, gravel, or other impervious material may be placed under the solar panels.
No developer's agreement required.  However, there are decommissioning requirements.

 
Included are all written comments received prior to the Planning Commission setting a public hearing
date, after the Planning Commission set a public hearing date, and after the Planning Commission
closed the public hearing.  Documents submitted at the November 9, 2023, public hearing are also
included.  Not included due to the size, is a 923-page document submitted by NextEra Energy
Resources entitled "Third-Party Research on Utility-Scale Solar".  The document is available upon
request.
 
Most of the comments discussed regulations for large-scale commercial solar projects which, because of
the County Commissioner's directive, these regulations no longer address.

ALL OPTIONS:
1.  Approve of the text amendments as presented.
2.  Approve of the text amendments with changes.
3.  Deny the text amendments.
4.  Refer the text amendments back to staff and the Planning Commission for clarification or further
discussion by providing specific instructions.

RECOMMENDATION / REQUEST:
Consideration of the Planning Commission recommendation to approve of the text amendments as
presented.



POLICY / FISCAL IMPACT:
If approved, these two text amendments will create specific zoning regulations to guide development of
limited-scale commercial solar energy projects in the zoned area of the County.















































































































































































AGENDA ITEM
 AGENDA

ITEM #7.E

AGENDA DATE: March 13, 2024

PRESENTED BY: Don Brittain, Public Works Director and Mark Vonachen, County
Planner II

 

 

 
AGENDA TOPIC:
Planning Case #2023-10 - A resolution approving a text amendment to the Table of Contents and
creating Article 25 of Zoning Regulations. This item is related to Agenda Item 7.D

SUMMARY & BACKGROUND OF TOPIC:
This resolution journalizes the County Commissioners' decision to amend the Table of Contents and
create Article 25 of the Zoning Regulations.  Article 25 will provide regulations for the placement of
limited-scale commercial solar energy projects within the zoned area of the County.
 
The Planning Commission recommended approval of the text amendments by a 7-0 vote on February
15, 2024.
 
The County Commissioners are scheduled to discuss and possibly vote on the text amendments at the
March 13, 2024, meeting.
 
The County Counselor has reviewed and approved of the proposed resolution.

ALL OPTIONS:
1. Approve of the resolution as presented.
2. Approve of the resolution with changes.
3. Deny the resolution.
4. Return to staff the resolution for corrections.

RECOMMENDATION / REQUEST:
Approve and sign the resolution.

POLICY / FISCAL IMPACT:
None.



 1 

RESOLUTION 2024- 

 

A RESOLUTION REVISING AND UPDATING THE APRIL 2016 

 EDITION OF THE RENO COUNTY ZONING REGULATIONS BY 

 AMENDING THE TABLE OF CONTENTS,  CREATING ARTICLE 25 AND 

INCORPORATING BY REFERENCE NEW REGULATIONS 

 

     WHEREAS, K.S.A. 12-757 authorizes the Board of County Commissioners to provide 

for the adoption or amendment of zoning regulations, and; 

 

      WHEREAS, pursuant to K.S.A. 12-757 the Reno County Planning Commission has 

recommended to the Board of County Commissioners that the Zoning Regulations of Reno 

County, 2016 Edition as amended be amended further, and; 

 

     WHEREAS, all public notice and public hearing requirements have been satisfied and all 

other statutory requirements prerequisite to the adoption of an amendment to the Zoning 

Regulations have been met, and; 

 

     WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners has determined that it is in the best 

interest of Reno County to create Article 25 pertaining to limited-scale commercial solar energy 

systems of the Zoning Regulations and to adopt and incorporate by reference said amended 

regulations based upon the recommendation of the Planning Commission. 

 

WHEREAS, upon conclusion of the Board’s deliberations, Commissioner ____________ 

moved to approve the Planning Commission’s recommendation to amend the Table of Contents 

and create Article 25 of the Reno County Zoning Regulations and to adopt and incorporate by 

reference the text amendments pertaining thereto found in the Reno County Planner’s oral report 

on March 13, 2024.  Commissioner ___________ seconded the motion.  The motion was 

approved by a ___________ vote. 

 

     NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF COUNTY 

COMMISSIONERS OF RENO COUNTY, KANSAS, that: 

 

1. The April, 2016 Edition of the Reno County Zoning Regulations, as reflected on the official 

zoning district boundary map, and the proposed amendments thereto at the Table of 

Contents and Article 25 are hereby adopted, and the same are incorporated herein by 

reference pursuant to K.S.A. 19-3303. 

 

2. At least one copy of the Reno County Zoning Regulations shall be filed with the County 

Clerk marked "Official Copy” as Incorporated by Resolution No. 2024-_____ and to which 

there shall be attached a published copy of this Resolution, said copies to be open for 

inspection and available to the public at all reasonable hours. 

 

3. Any provision of this Resolution which shall be declared invalid shall not affect the validity 

and authority of any other sections. 

 



 2 

4. All applications duly submitted prior to the effective date of this Resolution, with 

appropriate payment of all fees, and in the process of being considered by Reno County 

officials under the provisions of the Reno County Zoning Regulations in effect prior to the 

effective date of this resolution, shall be considered and acted upon under the provisions of 

prior editions of said Zoning Regulations.  Similarly, all orders issued by the District Court 

of Reno County, Kansas, enforcing provisions of the Reno County Zoning Regulations in 

effect prior to the effective date of this Resolution, which said orders remain within the 

continuing jurisdiction of the Court, shall be considered and acted upon under the provisions 

of said previous Reno County Zoning Regulations. 

 

5. This Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its publication once in the 

official county newspaper. 

 

APPROVED AND ADOPTED in regular session this 13th day of March 2024. 

 

 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

OF RENO COUNTY, KANSAS 

 

 

__________________________________ 

Randy Parks – Chairman 

 

__________________________________ 

Don Bogner – Vice-Chairman 

 

__________________________________ 

Daniel Friesen – Member 

 

__________________________________ 

Ron Hirst – Member 

 

__________________________________ 

John Whitesel - Member 

Attest: 

 

________________________ 

Donna Patton – County Clerk 



AGENDA ITEM
 AGENDA

ITEM #7.F

AGENDA DATE: March 13, 2024

PRESENTED BY: Patrick Hoffman, County Counselor; Don Brittain, Public Works
Director

 

 

 
AGENDA TOPIC:
Resolution Continuing the Temporary Solar Moratorium on Solar Energy within the Unincorporated
Area of Reno County, and Terminating the Moratorium on the Zoned Portion of Reno County

SUMMARY & BACKGROUND OF TOPIC:

Last meeting the Commissioners had a discussion regarding the current state of solar regulations and
staff were directed to provide an update and some options for discussion at the current meeting.
Currently, the planning commission has drafted proposed regulations for Limited Scale Solar Projects,
and if approved by the commission those regulations will go into effect in the zoned 1/3 of the county
only. (Limited Scale Solar Projects are defined as producing energy used offsite but under 10 acres in
size and generating 2 Megawatts or less of electricity.)

The planning commission intends to work next on residential and private solar regulations. Staff are
requesting that, if the limited scale regulations are approved, the moratorium be lifted only regarding
that use and only in the zoned portion. That moratorium is included with this agenda item.

One continuous source of public confusion is that only a portion of Reno County is zoned. If the entire
county were zoned then the regulations on solar, wind, and other uses would be uniform. If the county
were fully zoned, large portions of the currently ‘unzoned’ portion would be agricultural and
agricultural buildings are exempt from zoning regulations, however any solar, wind and other
restrictions would apply to those areas.

 Moving forward on solar, staff are requesting guidance from the commissioners on the following
questions:

Should large scale commercial solar be allowed anywhere in the county?
Should commercial wind be allowed anywhere in the county?
Should residential and private solar be regulated?
Does the commission want to consider county wide zoning? If so should public hearings be held
in the affected areas?

Staff are available for discussion and questions.

ALL OPTIONS:



1. Approve the Proposed Solar Moratorium
2. Deny the Solar Moratorium
3. Direct staff to modify Solar Moratorium and bring back at a future meeting

RECOMMENDATION / REQUEST:
Approve the proposed Resolution for the Solar Moratorium



RESOLUTION 2024- 

 A RESOLUTION CONTINUING THE TEMPORARY MORATORIUM ON SOLAR 
ENERGY PROJECT DEVELOPMENT WITHIN THE UNINCORPORATED AREA OF 

RENO COUNTY, KANSAS;  

AND TERMINATING THE MORATORIUM ON THE ZONED PORTION OF RENO 
COUNTY FOR LIMITED SCALE SOLAR PROJECTS 

 

WHEREAS, RESOLUTION 2023 – 41 provided a temporary moratorium on solar 
energy development within all of Reno County, included both the zoned and non-zoned portions 
of the County, and; 

WHEREAS, Reno County now has Zoning Regulations provisions regarding Limited 
Scale Commercial Solar Projects in the zoned portion of the Unincorporated Areas of Reno 
County; and  

WHEREAS, for purposes of this moratorium a Limited Scale Solar Energy Project shall 
refer to only installations which are equal to or less than 10 acres of contiguous ground surface 
area or are capable of producing no more than 2 megawatts of electricity.  

WHEREAS, this moratorium does NOT apply to private solar installations upon the roof 
of any building; and  

WHEREAS, due to the number of impacts that a Solar Project might have on that 
property for both current and future property owners, the Board of County Commissioners 
recognize that a need exists to review, consider potential changes and potentially adopt zoning 
regulations and/or standards that may pertain to such property uses; and  

WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners desires to consider the creation of 
regulations and restrictions for other solar equipment within the portions of Reno County; and  

WHEREAS, in accordance with K.S.A. 12-741 et seq. and K.S.A. 19-101 et seq., the 
County has police power and statutory authority to regulate the conduct of rural development 
through Zoning Regulations.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF COUNTY 
COMMISSIONERS OF RENO COUNTY, KANSAS, that:  

1. The moratorium established in Resolution 2023 – 41 is hereby ended in the zoned portions 
of Reno County with regards to limited scale commercial solar projects. 
 

2. The moratorium established in Resolution 2023 – 41 shall continue to be in effect for the 
remainder of Reno County as to all other solar uses. 
 



3. The Moratorium imposed by this Resolution may be extended, terminated earlier than its 
expiration date or otherwise amended by subsequent resolution of this Board of County 
Commissioners.  
 

4. This Resolution shall take effect and be in full force and effect from and after its adoption 
and publication in the official county newspaper and shall remain in effect until July 1st, 
2024.  

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Commissioners of Reno County, Kansas, this 13th day 
of March 2024. 

 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

OF RENO COUNTY, KANSAS 

 

_________________________________ 
Randy Parks, Chairman 

ATTEST: 

      _________________________________ 
__________________________  Don Bogner, Vice Chairman 
Donna Patton, County Clerk  

 
_________________________________ 
Ron Hirst, Member 

 
 

_________________________________ 
Daniel Friesen, Member 

 
 

_________________________________ 
John Whitesel, Member  



AGENDA ITEM
 AGENDA

ITEM #8.A

AGENDA DATE: March 13, 2024

PRESENTED BY: Randy Partington, County Administrator

 

 

 
AGENDA TOPIC:
Monthly Department Reports

SUMMARY & BACKGROUND OF TOPIC:
Every month, departments have been asked to provide an update on the previous month's major
activities.  The reports are intended to keep the county commission informed about the appointed and
elected departments.  Attached are reports for Aging-Public Transit, Appraiser, Automotive,
Community Corrections, Communications, District Attorney, Emergency Management, and Health.



  

 120 W. Avenue B, Hutchinson, KS 67501 

(620)694-2911         Fax: (620)694-2767 

 
 

Monthly Report for February 2024 
Submitted by 

Barbara Lilyhorn 
Director - Department of Aging and Public Transportation 

 

All staff have been involved in performing self-evaluations, additionally, supervisory staff have been engaged in performing staff 

evaluations. 

Budget 

 Aging Services has spent 11% and Public Transit has spent 10 % of the Department budgets respectively – a composite total of 

10% of the entire 002 expenditure budget as of 12/22/2023. Composite revenue is 11 %.  

13th Month expenses continued into early February for the FY 2023 budget. However, the overall budget remained the same as 

the January report. Aging Services has spent 87% and Public Transit has spent 70 % of the Department budgets respectively – a 

composite total of 75% of the entire 002 expenditure budget as of 2/21/2024. Composite revenue remains at 76 %. 

I submitted 2025 CIP budget.  Requests for FY 2025 funding from the Senior Centers and other agencies are coming in.  The 

applications will be reviewed at the March meeting of the Council on Aging. 

Public Transportation  

 Staff-Rcat has one driver position open and another driver is on extended medical leave.   

Operations 

 I attended a meeting of the Kansas Public Transportation Association via ZOOM. 

Federal law prohibits any operational pattern or practice that significantly limits the availability of service to complementary 

paratransit eligible persons. These patterns or practices may include trip delays at pickup or drop-off, trip denials, missed trips, 

trips with excessive trip lengths (due to chained trips). While Rcat monitors these patterns, we did not have an actual policy with 

set criteria which addressed how Rcat would formally measure performance.  This was pointed out in the Federal Compliance 

Review (Triennial) December 13th. I am currently developing a policy which will provide operational standards and practices 

which will be used to measure and evaluate performance and compliance with the law. This will be submitted to the compliance 

review team for their acceptance. 

Aging  

Staff -The Social and Human Services position is open. 

Operations 

Aside from the normal assistance provided to citizens on a regular basis, staff have continued to see people who have been 

impacted by switching to Medicare Advantage plans during the recent open enrollment period. Although we do not have access 

to the data regarding how many Reno County citizens switched from original Medicare, parts A & B, to Medicare Advantage 

plans, part C, from the volume of inquiries the Department has had, we believe it is a significant number.  Staff help people 

understand the differences in how payment is handled when comparing original Medicare, and Medicare Advantage plans.  It is 

evident that people did not have a clear understanding of how costs were covered through Advantage Plans. 

 



 

 
  RENO COUNTY 

   125 West First Ave.                                                                       
Hutchinson, Kansas 67501 

    (620) 694-2915 
Fax: (620) 694-2987 

 
 

 
Re: Monthly report for end of February 2024 

 

To: Randy Partington, County Administrator 

 

Staffing changes or issues  

The County Appraiser’s office is fully staffed.  

 

Financial Summary 

As of 2/26/24, the Appraiser’s Office has spent approximately 15% of the year-to-date budget, with 

approximately 79% of expenses being payroll. The remaining expenses were primarily regular and 

seasonal/monthly expenses. 

 

Projects/Issues/Challenges/Concerns 

Residential & Commercial Departments 

• The 2024 valuation is complete. The valuation file has been sent to the printer and valuation notices will 

be mailed on Friday, March 1; they will begin showing up in mailboxes the following week. Values 

should be updated on the website (Beacon) at some point during the day of March 1.  

• We are seeing a general increase in values county-wide, although not as much as last year. 

• Staff continues to process payment under protest hearings as they come in from the Treasurer. 

• Staff has already begun data collection for the 2025 valuation cycle. 

Personal Property 

• Staff is entering updates from personal property renditions as they come in. (Renditions were mailed at 

the beginning of January.) 

• Staff is entering watercraft values for the 2024 valuation cycle. 

• Staff is preparing for oil & gas renditions to begin coming in from Operators by the filing deadline of 

April 1. 

Support Staff 

• Staff continues to process deeds and update records accordingly.  

• Staff continues to work with IT to determine best practices for workflow efficiency.  

• March/April will be a challenging time for support staff as they deal with routing phone calls, 

scheduling appeals, creating appeal packets, and incoming oil & gas renditions. 



  
120 W. Avenue B, Hutchinson, KS 67501 

620-694-2585 
Fax: 620-694-2767 

 
 
 
 

Automotive 

Budget YTD Summary 

 As of February 21, 2024, we are at 16% of our overall budget of $209,972. The internal services fund 

(fuel and parts) stands at 5% out of our budget of $345,846. We have not purchased any vehicles yet 

this year out of the special equipment fund. 

Projects/Issues 

We opened quotes for five replacement patrol vehicles on February 20th and will wait for board approval 

to get these ordered. We will be selling three surplus vehicles in March or early April on Purple Wave 

Auction. Other than that, it has been mostly routine service and maintenance. We have had several 

recalls for patrol vehicles that we are in the process of getting completed.  

 

January fuel expenses came in at $12,839.41. 

 

 

 

 



 

 

County Commission Report              February 2024 

 

Staffing 

There are no open positions at Community Corrections.   

 

Projects/Concerns 

We continue to work through refresher training during staff meetings.  These are intended to keep staff 

focused on reducing risk factors that actually result in further criminal activity.  It’s easy for officers to 

refer people out for certain services but the hard work of changing behavior and reducing criminality is 

primarily their responsibility.  One of the challenges officers deal with is clients who are very high needs.  

People who are homeless or have active pchycosis need these areas addresses before focusing on 

reducing criminality.  Research shows there is a most efficient and effective sequence for addressing 

client needs but it’s not always as easy as it looks.  When caseloads are high or community resources are 

lacking it is difficult to move clients through the process.  Many of the people we supervise have barriers 

or characteristics which reduce the likelihood of them being the best candidates for some community 

resources.  This means officers must invest more time in helping clients access services and make it to 

appointments. 

 

We are expecting the first two felony drug diversion applicants to start the assessment process at the 

end of February.  The policies are in place and staff have been trained on the additional assessment and 

procedures.  We are looking forward to getting this program moving forward. 

 

Financial 

On February 15 I provided testimony to the House Transportation and Public Safety Budget Committee.  

They deliberated the Department of Corrections budget then on February 19.  They passed the 

Governor’s budget with several changes.  However, they did not increase the Community Corrections 

grant enhancement beyond the $2.5 million the Governor included in her budget.  Since the Senate 

approved the full $5 million enhancement the matter will have to be resolved in the conference 

committee discussions. 

 

 

 



 
 
 

 
Communications Monthly Report – February 2024 
 
Press Release: Pathways grant for $25,000 to the Food Bank of Reno County. 
 
Graphic Design: Early In-Person voting information, Reno County Health Dept. Car Seat Check Program 
flyer, Happy President’s Day post, Job opportunities – hiring Environmental Specialist and an Administrative 
Associate III, Environmental/Utilities, and Arlington Road opened after bridge repairs were completed.  
 
Website: Janelle Shane - 2024 Dillon Lecture Series speaker, Pathways to a Health Kansas grant of $25,000 
given to the Food Bank of Reno County, grant opportunities from the Kansas Dept. of Corrections, Planning 
Commission recommends adoption of updated solar energy systems regulations, Presidential Preference 
Primary dates, Storm Fury on the Plains event, ribbon cutting for Naloxone vending machine, and 2024 
Polar Plunge. 
 
Videos/Photos:  
Videos: Polar Plunge event, new Naloxone vending machine.  
Photos: Janelle Shane-2024 Dillon Lecture Series speaker, Keever Auto and Machine proclamation at BOCC 
meeting, ribbon cutting for new Naloxone vending machine, Pathways to a Health Kansas grant of $25,000 
given to Food Bank of Reno County, Storm Fury on the Plains event, sunset at the courthouse, Super Bowl 
LVIII potluck party for employees and renovation photos. 
 
Social Media: February 1 – 26, 2024 
 

• Facebook Reno County:  4,132 followers (+14), 41 posts  
o Top Post: Reno County employees enjoyed a Super Bowl LVIII party (02.09.24) 

 2,302 reach, 499 engagements, 1 share, 34 reactions, 1 comment 
• Twitter: 879 followers (+5), 27 tweets 

o Top Tweet: Ribbon cutting for new Naloxone vending machine. (02.23.24) 
 64 impressions, 6 media engagements 

• YouTube: 364 subscribers (+1)  
o Top video: 2024 Polar Plunge (02.25.24) 

 166 views 
• LinkedIn: 119 followers (+0), 1 post 
• Instagram: 27 followers (+3), 14 posts.        

 
Committee Meetings: Hutchinson Community Foundation Strategic Impact Committee, Local Emergency 
Planning Committee (LEPC) and Employee Engagement Committee. 

Administration 
206 West First Ave. 

Hutchinson, KS 67501-5245 
620-694-2929 





  

Emergency Management 
 

Reno County 
206 W 1st Ave 
Hutchinson, KS 67501 
620-694-2974 

2/23/2024 

Staffing changes or issues (if any) 

There are no staffing changes to report.     

Budget YTD summary 

Emergency Management has used 17% of the 2024 year-to-date budget.   

Projects/Issues/Challenges/Concerns 

Activities: 

 Attended Kansas Emergency Management Association meeting and statewide meetings.   

 As mentioned in previous reports, planning: 

o Our mitigation plan is expiring at the end of 2024. The mitigation plan will continue to be 
a focus of 2023 and 2024.   

 This plan is in the review phase.  Once we complete the review, it will be sent to 
the BOCC in the coming weeks/months. 

o The County Emergency Operations Plans will be presented to the BOCC later this month 
for formal adoption. 

 Lexipool fire district policies are completed and will be sent to the BOCC later this month for 
formal adoption. 

 Hosted Storm Fury on the Planes where approximately 125 residents attended and learned from 
the National Weather Service. 

 We expect to start wildfire season at the end of this month.  This is generally our busiest time of 
the year.  With the dry conditions, we expect to be active in the coming weeks. 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Dear Randy Partington, County Administrator: 

 
 

RE:  Monthly report ending February 29, 2024 
 

 

Staffing Vacancies:   

All positions are filled.   

 

Program Updates: 

Admin/Finance/Health Information Management (HIM).  Staff are collecting information and 

data for our Public Health Accreditation Board (PHAB) annual report that is due the end of 
March.  Staff are also working on all of our Aid-to-local (ATL) Kansas Department of Health 

and Environment (KDHE) grant applications for July 1, 2024 to June 30, 2025 grant year.  These 
applications will be presented to the Board of County Commissioners in March.   
 

Childcare Licensing (CCL).  Staff attended the task force monthly meeting with State KDHE 
members in attendance, attended Kaleidoscope monthly meeting, provided website updates, and 

conducted 2 orientation classes, 2 initial surveys, 18 annual surveys, 4 compliance visits, 2 
regulations reviews, 1 complaint survey, and 1 illegal care survey.   
 

Clinical – Basic Health Services (BHS), Maternal Child Health (MCH), Family Planning (FP), 
and Older Adult Services (OAS).  Our MCH program seeks to assure access to quality care, 

reduce infant mortality, and provide and ensure access to comprehensive prenatal and postnatal 
care to women, especially for those with low incomes or limited availability of care.    
           

Epidemiology and COVID-19 Update.  Staff conducted 9 infectious disease investigations, with 
8 confirmed or probable cases.  There were 3 animal bite investigations conducted.  As of 

2/23/24, the percentage of COVID-19 emergency department (ED) visits was 0.4% of all visits.  
As of February 23rd, there were 4 patients hospitalized with COVID-19.  ED visits for RSV are 
low but are high for Influenza.  RSV ED visits accounted for 0.9% of all ED visits and influenza 

accounted for 4.7% of ED visits this past week.  
 

Health Education – Chronic Disease and Risk Reduction (CDRR), Comprehensive Opioid, 
Stimulant, and Substance Use Site-based Program (COSSUP), Pathways to a Healthy Kansas, 
and Community Education.  CDRR-Staff continue to meet with Haven High School and Prairie 

Hills Middle School on vaping/tobacco prevention.  Staff continue to work with the Reno 
County Jail staff on the Kansas Tobacco Cessation Training (KaTCH) that provides jail staff and 

therapists with tools to help tobacco dependent individuals entering jail with cessation tools.  The 
Food Advisory Committee is starting their data collection phase of a food system assessment.    

209 West 2nd Ave. 

Hutchinson, Kansas 67501-5232 

(620) 694-2900 

Fax (620) 694-2901 

TDD: Kansas Relay Center 800-766-3777 

www.renogov.org/health 



 

COSSUP-Staff are building a process for recommendations, including the establishment of a 
governing committee.  Pathways-Working with the food pantry board to help with hunger relief; 

they received their grant.  Community Education-Staff attend regular meetings with the 
Tobacco-Free Living Workgroup, Rise Up Reno, Kansas Prevention Collaborative, Kansas 

Prevention Collaborative, Governor Behavioral Health Tobacco Workgroup, Pain and Opioid 
Stewardship Committee, Kansas Opioid and Prescription Drug Advisory Committee, and  the 
Kansas Harm Reduction Workgroup.          

 
Preparedness (PHEP).  As part of a recruitment campaign, staff participated in a commercial for 

Medical Reserve Corps.   Staff participated in the LEPC meeting, led a Reno County Lunch and 
Learn session on general preparedness, presented to staff on the upcoming storm season and 
reviewed our tornado drill procedure, and conducted 7 school inspections.   

 
WIC – Women, Infant & Children. We have 1213 active clients (have used at least 1 item on 

food benefits) out of 1398 participating (received benefits).  Breastfeeding Peer Counselors held 
2 events with 10 participants, and staff assisted 13 individuals with breastfeeding.  Staff assisted 
in teaching Bump to Baby classes; 8 participants.   

       
Becoming a High(er) Performing Organization.  Staff are actively involved in our Public Health 

Accreditation Board (PHAB) Reaccreditation Readiness Assessment.         
 
Upcoming Events. 

March 4-6.  Governor’s Public Health Conference, in Wichita.  Staff will be attending the 
conference and multiple members of our Health Education staff were asked to present.  

 
April 1-5.  Public Health Week.  
 

 
Sincerely,  

 
Karla Nichols,  
Director of Public Health 


	~3.13.2024 Agenda Packet.pdf (p.1-2)
	06B Purchase of 5 Police Vehicles.pdf (p.3-25)
	06C Noxious Weed Plan.pdf (p.26-36)
	06D Final Minutes.pdf (p.37-47)
	06E Tax Credit Bid.pdf (p.48-53)
	06F PW Kirkham Michael Agreement.pdf (p.54-56)
	07A Umbrella Proposal - Travelers Insurance.pdf (p.57-61)
	07B Youth Services Annual Report.pdf (p.62-76)
	07C HD Aid-to-Local and Healthy Families Passthrough Grant.pdf (p.77-81)
	07D PW Planning Case 2023-10.pdf (p.82-170)
	07E Resolution amending Table of Contents.pdf (p.171-173)
	07F Solar Moratorium Resolution.pdf (p.174-177)
	08A Monthly Reports.pdf (p.178-187)

